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The/ﬁ;:;1~59abody, completed in 1925, occupies the entire block bounded by Union
Avenue, Seécond and Third Streets and an un-named alley in downtown Memphis.
Designed by the architectural firm of Walter W. Ahlschlager, Inc., it was the
largest and most elegant hotel in the South and for fifty years was the symbolic
center of the social, cultural, and commercial life of the Mid-South region.

Architecturally, the Peabody represents the finest example in the region of the
opulence, grandeur, and complexity which characterized the era of the grand hotel.
Rising 12 stories on its 320' x 190' site, the building contains 625 guest rooms,
has:a ‘total volume ofi:5,750,000 cubic feet; and was:-constructed at a cost of $5
million.: v =:= Tty e T N
The overall building style may be best described as Italian Renaissance Revival,
Wrapping around the northeast, southeast, and northwest sides is a two-story

base faced with grey terra cotta block and crowned with a buff terra cotta
balustrade and decorative urns. Five metal entrance marquees, two on Union Avenue
and one on each of the other sides, mark the entrances into the main lobby. Opening
onto Union, Second, and Third Streets, as well as into the main lobby, are forty
shops and leased office spaces. Above the street level, large plate glass windows

open into the various shops, private clubs, and dining rooms on the mezzanine floor.

Rising ten stories above this base and set back from the street to afford additional
air and light, is the large brown masonry mass containing the guest rooms. U-shaped
in plan so as to offer each room natural light, ventilation, and a view, the masonry
mass is interrupted at the tenth fleor by two shallow terra cotta cornices and capped
by a similar cornice, balustrade, and ornamental urns at the twelth floor roof-line.
At the corners of the building, the special guest suites occupying/the eleventh

and twelth floors are expressed by elaborate arched buff terra cotta window frames,
balustrades and.pilasters. In 1939 the east end of the:Peabody.'s:open-air roof
garden was enclosed by a new dining room known as the Skyway, although the outdoor
Plantatien Roof on the west end with its "southern mansion”-  false-front and tile
floor continued to be used.

The five entrance foyers, each finished in Italian travertine, open into the great
two-story 85' x 125' main lobby where, it--has been said, begins the Mississippi
Delta. Sixteen square columns, faced with rose St. Genevieve marble, support the
mezzanine balcony and ornate polychrome wood beamed ceiling. The two original
colored glass skylights have been removed. The walls of the lobby are of marble
although the original terrazzo floor was replaced with white marble in a major
renovation during the late 1960s. Dominating the center of the lobby is the fountain,
made famous by the "Peabody ducks" who inhabited it for decades. Carved from a
single block of white travertine marble imported from Italy, the fountain consists
of a bowl ‘supported by four tupids sitting astride délphins, surrounded by a low
octagonal curb of black and gold marble. Opening off the lobby, in addition to the
shops and offices, are the front desk with the hotel's administrative offices to
the rear and, originally, the two-story Tea Room with its adjacent soda fountain
and kitchen.
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On the mezzanine level, overlooking the lobby, is located the Continental Ballroom
(originally known as the Louis XVI Ballroom). Seriously damaged by fire in 1957,
the ballroom has since been renovated to approximate the mirror-lined elegance of
the original, although the large chandeliers and acoustic tile ceiling are a recent
addition. Also located on this floor are the two large dining rooms known as the
Venetian and Georgian rooms, the main kitchen, and numerous shops, meeting rooms
and private club rooms.

Floors three through twelve consist of 625 private rooms with an equal number of
baths. The third floor was set aside for use by traveling slaes representatives
for the display of merchandise. Forty-nine exhibit and meetings rooms totaling
38,000 square feet of display space were dllocated for this purpose. The private
guest rooms on the upper floors range in size from single rooms to multi-room
suites. Four two-story studio apartments, known as the "Romeo and Juliet" suites
because of their interior balconies, extend between floors eleven and twelve.

The Skyway, the Peabody's roof-top night club, is a glass-enclosed, semi-circular
restaurant with its own kitchen and 2,000-square-foot sunken dance floor. From
the Skyway access is afforded to the open—air Plantation Roof with its view of
downtown Memphis and the Mississippi River.

In the Peabody's basement are located the laundry, which handled 10,000 pieces of
linen per day, and the mechanical equipment rooms which contained the hotel's
three bailers, three generators, and own artesian well.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Hotel Pe¢abody, located .imn.downtown Memphis and -known to generations -of - travelers

and local residents as "the South's Finest-One of America's Best," was for over fifty
years the symbolic center of the social, cultural, and commercial life of the Midw

South region. Completed in 1925, it was the largest and most elegant hotel in the south
and represents the area's finest example of the opulence, grandeur, and complexity
which characterized the era of the grand hotel.

In 1923 ground was broken for the new twelve-story, 625 rooms, $5 million structure
which was to occupy the entire block between Union Avenue, Second and Third Streets
and an un~named alley between Union and Gayoso Streets. Built to replace the old
Peabody which had stood at Main and Monree Streets since 1869, both hotels were named
for financier George Peabody, who had been a close friend of founder Robert Campbell
Brinkley,

With its grand opening ball in 1925, the new hotel quickly established a reputation

as the center of social life for the entire region. -The Peabody's. Night-Cap Club,
Venetian Dining Room, and open-air Marine Roof (later partially enclosed and known as
the Skyway) soon became-rinstitutions among the socially elite:of.both Memphis and

the rich Mississippi River delta areas of West Tennessee, eastern Arkansas, and
northern Mississippi. :The later 1920s, 1930s, and 1940s saw a steady: stream of the
wealthy and prominent flock to the Peabody to dine and dance to the music of such
entertainers as George:Hamilton, Les Brown, Benny Goodman, Harry James, Dorothy Lamour,
and the Andrews Sisters. Beginning in 1937 the music of the Peabody's bands was broad-
cast nationwide on CBS radio.

As David Cohn wrote in 1935, "The Mississippi Delta begins in the lobby of the Peabody
Hotel and ends on Catfish Row in Vicksburg. The Peabody is the Paris Ritz, the Cairo
Shepheard's, the London Savoy of this section. If you stand near its fountain in the
middle of the lobby, where ducks waddle and turtles drowse, ultimately you will see
everybody who is anybody in the Delta..."

In addition to its significance in the social life of the region, the Peabody performed
important commerical and civic functdons. From the mid-1930s until the 1960s it was

the city's prime convention hotel..- The hoteil's lower. two.floors ¢ontained forty. retail
shops and offices, as well as the headquarters of the Chamber of Commerce, and the
Rotary, Kiwanis, and Civitan clubs. The entire third floor consisted of suites reserved
for the commercial displays of visiting sales representatives,
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The three decades floowing World War II saw the slow but steady decline of the
Peabody. Plagued by a series of major fires, several changes in ownership, and
threatened by the increasing popularity of the new motels, the Peabody's traditional
stature as a Mid-South landmark gradually became more memory than reality. Despite
its acquisition and restoration by the Sheraton Hotel Corporation in the late 1960s,
the pressures of a declining downtown Memphis eventually proved insurmountable and
the Peabody was forced to close. Acquired by its present owners in 1975, studies
are underway to determine the feasibility of re-opening the hotel.
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